
 
 
 

SCRUTINY : GOVERNANCE, 
PERFORMANCE, BUSINESS CHANGE AND 

CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

4.00 pm TUESDAY, 21ST MAY, 2019 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place in Conference Room 1 at 3.30 pm.   
This Meeting is for Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used 
for training purposes by the Democratic Services Department. 

 
The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber 

and using the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined 

above.   

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal  

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

3. Draft Work Programme 2019-20   

 To consider the attached report 
 

3 - 12 

4. Tackling Poverty   

 To consider the attached report 
 

13 - 40 

5. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

6. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

7. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors:  T Skinner (Chair) 

                     G Lewis (Vice-Chair) 
  
 Councillors:   J Amos, H R Jones, D Sammon, 

W R Smith and C T Jones 
 
Co-optees:    J Beard, C Payne and E Wilkins-Campbell 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 
(Composition to be confirmed at AGM) 

 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Work Programme 2019/20  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached draft work programme and approves, revises 
or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.2 in planning 
for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached work programme identifies the topics and issues under consideration 
by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional subjects to be 
identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 14th May 2019 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 21st May 2019 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 4



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives and priorities? 

b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns? 
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest? 
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications? 
e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

department; 
 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 

 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue; 

d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 
investigation / review; 

e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 

Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

Page 5



c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives / other plan / other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
Member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 
community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

Page 6



f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/carers and/or the general public (public 
calls for evidence). 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 

 

APPENDIX I 

Page 8



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
  Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

21
st

 May 2019 

Draft Committee Work 

Programme 2018/19 

 

Cllr Tanya Skinner (Chair) 

and Scrutiny Committee 

Members 

The Committee to discuss the draft Work Programme and to officially agree 

and sign off the Work Programme for 2019-2020. 

 

Tackling Poverty Strategy 
and Action Plan 

Sue Walker/Alyn 
Owen/Lisa Curtis-Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - Following presentation of a report at the 
Governance Scrutiny meeting of 26th February 2019; Committee Members 
stated they required more details and wanted sight of the Tackling Poverty 
Strategy document  

2
nd

 July 2019 

Draft Annual Governance 
Statement 
 

Gary Evans (Shared Audit 
Service) 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- To provide scrutiny with the opportunity to challenge 
and contribute to the  Draft Annual Governance Statement document 
before it gets reported to Full Council. 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan: 
Living Well Theme 
 

Cllr Chris Davies / Lisa 
Curtis-Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  At the scrutiny meeting held on 10th July 2018, 
Committee Members requested the Living Well theme within the Corporate 
Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny, with a specific focus on the 
following element: 
“To be confirmed”. 

3
rd

 September 
2019 

Human Resources Cllr Andrew Barry / Fran 
Donnelly 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- WAO Report – Following on from the Improvement 
Assessment 2015-16: Review of the Council’s Human Resources Function a 
report is requested from colleagues in HR to review the status of the 
following:  
* Single points of dependency across the Authority and the risk this poses;  
* Corporate sickness absence statistics over the last 3 years; and  
* A quarterly report on agency staff employed by the Council, including  
   financial details / costs. 

Audit Action Plan:  
Recommendations made 
by external regulators 
(WAO, CSSIW, ESTYN, WG 
Commissioners etc.).  
 

Shared Audit Service Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Following a report received at the Governance 
Scrutiny Meeting on 9th April 2019; Committee Members requested a 
subsequent report outlining the current position with regards to at Audit 
Action Plan function outlining responses to regulatory recommendations 
received by the Council. 

P
age 9

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf
http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/s34392/Wales%20Audit%20Office%20Report.pdf


Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

  Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

9
th

 October 2019 

DRAFT Annual 
Performance Report 
 
 

Andrew Mogford Scrutiny & Challenge: - The Annual Performance Report is a statutory 
document which the Council MUST to publish to communicate its’ self-
evaluation of delivery against our wellbeing objectives.  The Committee is 
requested to review the draft report and ‘test’ the evaluative judgments 
made by Chief Officers through constructively critical challenge. 

Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence  
 

Safer Merthyr Tydfil Scrutiny & Challenge: -  

26
th

 November 
2019 

Local Authority Support to 
the Third Sector Services 

Cllr Tanya Skinner/Alyn 
Owen/Chris Long/Ryan 
Barry 

Monitoring & Scrutiny:  This item was originally received as a result of a 
WAO report. Subsequent to the item being discussed at the scrutiny 
meeting an email was sent to the Chief Executive and the Cabinet Portfolio 
Member. As a result of scrutiny’s involvement a report was submitted to the 
Governance Services Scrutiny Committee meeting on 13th February.  

Corporate Wellbeing Plan 
– Working Life Theme 
 
 

Cllr Geraint Thomas / Alyn 
Owen / Chris Long / Steve 
Peters 

Scrutiny & Challenge: - At the scrutiny meeting held on 9th April 2019, 
Committee Members requested the Working Life theme within the 
Corporate Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny, with a specific focus 
on the following element: 
 

“Post-16 provision; how this links with Cwm Taf Public Services Board; and 
details of progress made on apprenticeships and partnership working”. 

7
th

 January 2020 
 
 
 
 
 

Change Programme  
 
 
 
 

Ellis Cooper / Andrew 
Mogford 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -   Scrutiny Members to review the ‘post-decision’ 
status of areas originally identified for financial savings and identified 
whether savings have been achieved, the impact of this service 
rationalisation etc. 
 

 
 

 

  

P
age 10



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 

  Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & Cabinet Member  Scrutiny Focus  

25
th

 February 
2020 

Wellbeing Objective – Best 
Start to Life 
 
 

Sue Walker / Annabel Lloyd  Scrutiny & Challenge: -   At the scrutiny meeting held on 26th February 2019, 
Committee Members requested the Best Start theme within the Corporate 
Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny, with a specific focus on the 
following element: 
 
“To be confirmed”. 
 

 
 

  

21
st

 April 2020 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan 
– Environmental 
Wellbeing 
 
 

Cllr David Hughes / Judith 
Jones 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  At the scrutiny meeting held on 9th April 2019, 
Committee Members requested the Environmental Wellbeing theme within 
the Corporate Plan be presented at Governance Scrutiny, with a specific 
focus on the following element: 
 
“It has been almost 12 months since new measures were introduced.  
Members want to explore whether there has been any increase of incidents 
of fly-tipping.  Have costs increased?  Does policy require change? (e.g. black 
bin charge; waste transfer note charge etc.)”. 
 

 

Statement of Wellbeing 
and Corporate Wellbeing 
Plan: Focus on the Future 

Andrew Mogford Scrutiny & Challenge: -  

P
age 11



Governance, Performance, Business Change, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2019/20 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and the 
outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 

 

 
 

 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Trust 
 

At the Joint Audit and Scrutiny meeting on 26th March 2018, the Trust advised that a lot of work has gone 
on. The committee to agree what they require when discussing the work programme at every meeting.    

Date to be 
confirmed 

Findings of Corporate Self-
Evaluation Process 

The Council has reintroduced the Corporate Self-Evaluation process with effect from 2019.  It is proposed 
Governance Committee receive an holistic overview of the key findings of this activity across the 4 areas of 
the Corporate Wellbeing Plan (Focus on the Future); and scrutinise the areas which have been identified as 
key priorities for improvement over the coming year.  (Schedule for April 2020?) 

Dates as per 
work 
programme 

Cwm Taf Public Services 
Board: Our Cwm Taf 
Wellbeing Plan 

Over the past 12-month period, the PSB has been raised during the course of the Committee’s discussions 
on a number of occasions; it has been suggested that the Chair of the PSB be invited to attend Governance 
Scrutiny  

P
age 12



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

Tackling Poverty 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to outline the continued work being undertaken across 

council service areas to ensure an integrated response to the Tackling Poverty 
strategy that delivers on local outcomes, whilst also meeting Welsh Government 
priorities. 

 
1.2 The report outlines the work to date since the Committee last received an update on 

the 26th of February 2019 and provides detail about next steps to ensure the 
sustainability of the Tackling Poverty strategy through maximising available 
resources including both internal and external funding.  

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1  The content of this report is discussed and noted. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Prosperity for All, the Welsh Governments national strategy to take forward the 

Programme for Government, is designed to bring together the efforts of the whole 
public sector towards the central mission of delivering Prosperity for All. The long 
term aim is to build a Wales that is prosperous and secure, healthy and active, 
ambitious and learning and united and connected. 

 
3.2 MTCBC’s Tackling Poverty strategy is the local contribution to the long term national 

mission of Prosperity for All and represents the key cross organisational response to 
deliver our corporate wellbeing objectives.  Organised around three key themes, the 
strategy brings together council resources along with the wider partnership arena, to 

Date Written 10th May 2019 

Report Author Sue Walker, Alyn Owen, Lisa 
Curtis Jones 

Service Area People and Performance 

Committee Date 21st May 2019 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



work towards shared goals to deliver improved outcomes for the people living in 
Merthyr Tydfil. 

Tackling Poverty Strategy framework 
 

Theme Regeneration 
 

Strategic priorities  Reduce unemployment and worklessness; 

 Improve business growth and infrastructure; 

 Better town centre and communities. 

Theme Lifelong Learning 
 

Strategic priorities  Better achievements; 

 Greater opportunities; 

 Better prospects. 

Theme Health and Wellbeing 
 

Strategic priorities  Building resilient communities; 

 Strengthening families 

 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 A draft of the Tackling Poverty strategy (Appendix 1) was developed in 2018, 

designed to bring together a cross section of council service areas and wider 
partners in order to achieve a shared set of outcomes.   

 
4.2 The strategy was developed within the context and principles of the Wellbeing of 

Future Generations Act.  The Act, along with changes to Welsh Government funding 
arrangements for anti-poverty programmes, provided us with an opportunity to 
change how we work together and identify new ways for service delivery to ensure 
an integrated response to tackling poverty. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Since the development of the draft Tackling Poverty strategy, Welsh Government 

have recently confirmed their priorities in relation to the way forward for flexible 
funding in relation to the Tackling Poverty grants.   
 

5.2 A key factor in the delivery of the Council’s response to the issue of poverty has 
been the utilisation of the Welsh Government funded programmes.  The Council 
during 2018 established an Operational Leads Group that has collectively managed 
the funding across the 10  grants within the pilot year of funding flexibility.  The 
outturn position utilised in 2018-19 resulted in £361,545 being reinvested in priority 
areas of spend through the grant maximisation approach utilised.     

 
5.2 From April 1 2019, flexible funding will be divided into two separate grants Children  

and Communities and the Housing Support Grant.  Bringing together the strategic 
and operational leads for both grants, work has started to identify priority areas for 

Page 14



development and how these can dovetail with the outcomes of the Tackling Poverty 
Strategy. 

 
5.3 Grant submissions to the two grants have been submitted, and approval received 

from Welsh Government for the 2019/20 financial year.  These details are below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4    The rules for grant management of the flexible funding grants has been amended for  

2019/20; this is as a result of Welsh Government reorganising the structure of 
funding.  A 5% ‘cap’ for virements between these two grants has now been 
introduced  and requires pre authorisation from Welsh Government which will need 
to be monitored on an ongoing basis with the impact of this change being recorded 
and, if necessary, fed back to Welsh Government. 
 
It should be noted however that whilst these grants have been  combined into a 
single Children and Communities Grant  the individual guidance and terms and 
conditions for each grant remains in place  and must be adhered to throughout 
2019/20. Future guidance for 2020/21 is currently being developed by Welsh 
Government which may  change the  current approach.  

 
 

6 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 An agreed performance management framework across the three themes within the 

Tackling Poverty strategy to ensure effective planning and performance monitoring 
both internally and to Welsh Government. 

 
6.2 Successfully managing the opportunities of flexible funding to enable the Council to 

deliver high quality services to its customers and contribute to the priorities of the 
Tackling Poverty strategy. 

 
6.3 Safeguarding the sustainability of the Tackling Poverty strategy by pooling resources 

through the collaboration between services from across the Council and with 
partners around common outcomes to deliver real improvements to services and 
major regeneration programmes.   

 

Children and Communities Grant £4,625,049  

Flying Start  

Families First  

The Legacy Fund  

Promoting positive engagement for young people  

St David’s Day Fund  

Communities for Work Plus  

Childcare and Play  

  

Single Housing Support Grant £2,184,089 

Supporting People £2,123,168 

Homelessness Prevention  £55,698 

Rent Smart Wales Enforcement  £5,228 

Page 15



6.4 Commissioned services offer a joined up response to the key challenges affecting 
people living in poverty to ensure an integrated response by services that meet 
needs of the community.   

 

7.0  WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
7.1 In light of the new Welsh Government funding arrangements and agreed future 

direction, we need to review the draft Tackling Poverty strategy to ensure the local 
response is aligned to national requirements.  This will involve reviewing the  new 
Flexible Funding objectives aligned to the Grants, with the current objectives outlined 
in the draft strategy.  This is an opportunity to streamline to ensure we remain 
focused on activity that helps bring us closer to our goals.  

 
7.2 Review current arrangements of operational working groups to ensure alignment with 

strategic priorities across the three themes: (Regeneration, Lifelong Learning, and 
Health and Wellbeing). These working groups comprise of officers from across the 
council and partners, with operational responsibility and service delivery knowledge 
to act as a conduit between the high level outcomes and the steps needed to 
achieve them.   

 
7.3 The Operational Leads Group has identified there is a need to bring all operational 

leads and their teams together for an event to explore current connections.   By 
developing a deeper understanding of each other’s work, there would be an 
opportunity to strengthen the referral processes between project strands to ensure 
the needs of clients/participants were appropriately met.  This would also support the 
identification of opportunities for further joint working, collaboration and integration of 
service activities (where appropriate).   

 
7.4 Bring the redrafted version of the Tackling Poverty Strategy to Full Council in 

September 2019 for approval. 
 
 

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

8.1 The Tackling Poverty strategy is the key organisational strategy to help deliver all of 
the four wellbeing objectives outlined in Focus on the Future. Poverty represents a 
serious threat to the wellbeing of individuals and communities. Taking an integrated 
response to tackle poverty through the Tackling Poverty governance arrangements 
increase our chances of success in delivering real change to people’s lives. 

 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 
 

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES  
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES 

 
ALYN OWEN  
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION  
 

CLLR. GERAINT THOMAS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR                 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC PROTECTION 
  

SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER: LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 Page 16



 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
                                                                     
 
 
 
 
 
 

„Acting Today for a Better Tomorrow‟ 
 

 
A Tackling Poverty Strategy for Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough Council 
 

 (2018 - 2022) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                         
 
 
                            

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

Lead Officer:  

 

Key Strategic Partners & Authors: 

 
This document can be provided on CD, electronically or in large print and can be translated into other 
languages. 
 
For more information contact: 
Chris Hole  
Unit 5  
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 
 
 
Email: chris.hole@merthyr.gov.uk 
Phone: 01685 724601 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Plan Approved:  
Plan to be reviewed:  
 

Page 20

mailto:chris.hole@merthyr.gov.uk


 

3 | P a g e  
 

 
Foreword 
 
 
 
 
To be completed by Sherelle Jago 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Thank you for your cooperation and ongoing support 
 
 
 
 
  
  
Lisa Curtis Jones      Cllr Sherelle Jago 
Chief Officer Social Services    Tackling Poverty champion    
 

Page 21



 

4 | P a g e  
 

 

Section Contents Page  

1.  Introduction 
 

 

2.  Poverty Definition 
 

 

3.  Policy Context 
 

 

4.  Why do we need this strategy? 
 

 

5.  Key themes, priorities and outcomes 
 
This section includes the Our approach. 
Include case studies as examples 
 

 

6.  Tackling Poverty Governance Structure 
 

 

7.  How do we know if we are successful?  

8.  Appendices –  

1. Our Shared Vision 

2. Poverty Profile Merthyr Tydfil  

3. Thriving Places Wales Overview 

4. Focus on the Future Strategic plans 
 

 

9.   References 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

5 | P a g e  
 

1 Introduction 
 

As a Council we want to support our communities to build resilience against poverty and improve people‟s 
wellbeing. The work on tackling poverty spans all policy areas including Education, Community Regeneration 
and Social Services.  Working collaboratively across council services will ensure a coherent and integrated 
approach to addressing poverty in Merthyr Tydfil. 
 
“Too often, people‟s experiences of trying to get out of poverty tell a story of barriers and traps, rather than 
routes out” 

1
.  This strategy seeks to tackle these barriers by focussing on three themes: 

 

 Regeneration 

 Lifelong learning 

 Health and wellbeing  
 
This strategy has been developed within the framework of regional and local strategic priorities and the 
outcomes therein strongly correlate with the Cwm Taf Public Services Boards Our Cwm Taf plan and Merthyr 
Councils plan Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our community. 
 
With the introduction of the tool Thriving Places Wales, our understanding of the conditions necessary to help 
communities thrive and improve lives has increased.  Thriving Places Wales is not designed as a performance 
framework tool but as a way to help identify thriving communities.  Our enhanced understanding of the 
conditions that impact on the wellbeing of people and communities has informed the outcomes within this 
strategy and the key activities outlined in the supporting delivery plans. 
 
We recognise that tackling poverty is not a quick fix and the impact of poverty can last a lifetime.  Our 
approach therefore, is to focus on early intervention and prevention –tackling the root causes and building 
people‟s capabilities through income maximisation, employability and education in order to promote positive 
life chances.  The activities to help us tackle poverty have in part, been shaped by the advice given by the 
Joseph Rowntree and Bevan Foundations in their document, Prosperity without Poverty a framework for 
action in Wales.  Tackling poverty should be an integral part of all public bodies, and we are committed to 
working with all our partners- public, private and voluntary- in order to achieve our goals.  
 
This strategy document will start by looking at a definition of poverty before placing the work in context 
nationally and locally. This then leads onto an explanation of why the council needs this strategy before 
outlining the key priorities for the strategy and explaining how the strategy will be governed and what 
measures will be used to judge success. 
 

2. Definition of poverty 

Merthyr Tydfil Council adopts a broader view of poverty than either relative income measures or areas based 
deprivation approaches.  Individuals, families and groups in Merthyr Tydfil can be said to be in poverty when 
they lack the income and resources to have a standard of living considered acceptable in the society in which 
they live.…Because of their poverty they may experience multiple disadvantage through unemployment, low 
income, poor housing, inadequate health care and barriers to lifelong learning, culture, sport and recreation.  
They are often excluded and marginalised from participating in activities (economic, social and cultural) that 
are the norm for other people and their access to fundamental rights may be restricted." 

European Commission, Joint Report on Social Inclusion 2004 

Vision 

Working together this strategy aspires to achieve the following vision: 

Merthyr Tydfil is a place where people will benefit from the opportunities that support an acceptable living 
standard in education, housing, health and wellbeing, a place where the benefits of prosperity are shared by 
all.  

                                            
1
 Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2016, Joseph Rowntree Foundation   

Page 23

http://www.thrivingplaces.wales/background?lang=en-GB
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/prosperity-without-poverty
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/prosperity-without-poverty


 

6 | P a g e  
 

Aim 

The overall aim of this strategy is to help minimise the impact of poverty on the people of Merthyr Tydfil and 
ensure they are equipped to cope with the challenges they currently face in terms of their disposable income, 

and the impact that this has on their health, education, job prospects and community involvement. 

How will this vision be delivered?  Our Principles 

The Council will work collaboratively across services and apply the sustainable development principle of the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (WFGA) to secure better outcomes for the people of Merthyr Tydfil: 

• Long-term: planning based on robust needs analysis and projections that ensure we can balance our 
short term needs with the need to safeguard our ability to meet long term needs. 

• Collaboration: an important part of delivery of our vision is services working together and working with 
external organisations to ensure all our people are supported to maintain an acceptable standard of 
living 

• Prevention: targeting grants and core funding to prevent problems occurring or getting worse  

• Involvement: a wide range of individuals and groups have contributed their insight into their 
experiences of poverty, helping develop an understanding of how poverty can affect lives. By gaining 
awareness of the issues, better decisions can be made in targeting work 

• Integration of directorate strategies to achieve a common vision will ensure our corporate priorities 
and wellbeing objectives positively impact upon each of the 7 wellbeing goals, and on the objectives 
of other public bodies 

 

3. Policy context 

 

3.1 Local 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council‟s shared vision is „Acting today for a better tomorrow‟ (Appendix 1) 
The Council aspires to strengthen Merthyr Tydfil‟s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the Valley 
and be a place to be proud of where: 

 People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions, 

 People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life and 

 People visit, enjoy and return. 

 

One of the key priorities for the Council to be sustainable, this will be achieved through collaboration with 
others, including the residents of the County Borough. This is set within the political priorities of 

 Looking after all our citizens by providing an affordable quality education and social care enabling 
everybody to lead their lives to their full potential. 

 Encouraging active lifestyles and promoting wellbeing  

 Supporting a strong, sustainable, diverse and successful environment and economy. 

 

The plan Focus on the Future, sets out the Councils Wellbeing Objectives which seek to secure 

improvements in the economic, social, cultural and environmental wellbeing of the people who live and work 

in Merthyr Tydfil, now and in the future. The focus is on supporting people when they need it most and 

equipping them with the skills they need to lead fulfilled lives.  There are four wellbeing objectives across four 

wellbeing themes. 

 

Page 24

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/3775/mtcbc-focus-on-the-future-april-2018.pdf


 

7 | P a g e  
 

 Best Start to Life 

Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need 
to be successful learners and confident individuals 

 Working Life 

People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination 
 

 Environmental Wellbeing 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside 

 Living Well 

People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe 
and enjoy good physical and mental health 

 

 

3.2 Regional 

 
Figure 1: Visualisation of where our plan (Focus on the Future: 

Wellbeing in our Community) sits in relation to the regional work 

across Cwm Taf and within the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

Our Cwm Taf, the wellbeing plan for the Cwm Taf Public Service 
Board, has the ambition that “We work as One Public Service, 
with communities, to support the development of resilient 
communities that are informed, connected, active and resourced 

and have the ability to adapt to and influence change and improve wellbeing.” 
 
The wellbeing objectives within the PSB plan are:- 
 

 Tackling loneliness and isolation (Cross cutting objective) 

We will work in new ways to channel the undoubted strengths of our communities, including 
volunteers to tackle more effectively the loneliness and isolation which often exists within many of 
them. 

 Community Resilience and Wellbeing 

To promote safe, confident, strong and thriving communities improving the wellbeing of residents and 
visitors and building on our community assets. 

 Lifestyles, health and vulnerability 

To help people live long and healthy lives and overcome any challenges. 

 Economy and Infrastructure 

To grow a strong local economy with sustainable transport that attracts people to live, work and play 
in Cwm Taf. 

 

 

Page 25

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=286&mid=613&fileid=210


 

8 | P a g e  
 

3.3 National 

 

Welsh Government 

Well-being of Future Generations Act 2015 

 
Our Tackling Poverty Strategy together with our Focus on 
the Future plan will help maximise our contribution to 
achieve  the seven wellbeing make a positive contribution 
to the seven wellbeing Goals of the Act:- 
 

A resilient Wales - A nation which maintains and 
enhances a biodiverse natural environment with healthy 
functioning ecosystems supporting social, economic and 
ecological resilience and the capacity to adapt to (e.g. 
climate) change. 
 
A prosperous Wales - An innovative, productive/low 
carbon society recognising the limits of the global 
environment; using resources efficiently/proportionately 
and which develops a skilled and well-educated 
population, in a wealth generating economy, providing 
employment opportunities, allowing people to benefit from 
the wealth generated through securing decent work. 
 

A healthier Wales - A society in which people‟s physical and mental wellbeing is maximised and in which 
choices and behaviours that benefit future health are understood.  
 

A more equal Wales - A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter what their background or 
circumstances.  
 

A Wales of cohesive communities - Attractive/viable/safe and well-connected communities. 

 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language – A society that promotes and protects culture, 
heritage and the Welsh language and which encourages people to participate in the arts, and sports and 
recreation. 
 

A globally responsible Wales.  A nation which, when doing anything to improve the economic and social, 
environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales, takes account of whether doing such a thing may make a 
positive contribution to global wellbeing. 
 

 

Social Services and Well-being Act 2014 

 
The Act has a wide remit that impacts not only upon Social Services, but also on wide- ranging local authority 
services such as housing, education, leisure, regeneration, poverty and prevention and those of our partners, 
particularly the Local Health Board and third and private sector providers.  Much of the agenda within this act 
is delivered through the regional work of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board.  Under Part 2 of the Act, General 
Functions, there is a duty to: 
 

 Promote wellbeing 

 Provide preventative services 

 Promote social enterprises, co-operatives, user led services and third sector 

 Provide Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) 

 

 

Page 26



 

9 | P a g e  
 

Prosperity for all: the national strategy 

 
This strategy sets out how Welsh Government will take forward the commitments within the Programme for 
Government, Taking Wales Forward, and sets out how these commitments will be delivered by bringing 
together the efforts of the whole Welsh public sector. 
 
Key themes 
 
The strategy has four key themes, each with a long term vision showing how they will contribute to prosperity 
for all. 
 

 Prosperous and Secure –to drive a Welsh economy which spreads opportunity and tackles 
inequality, delivering individual and national prosperity. Enabling people to fulfil their ambitions and 
enhance their well-being through secure and sustainable employment. Breaking down the barriers 
many face to getting a job, and create the right environment for businesses to grow and thrive. 

 

 Healthy and Active –   to improve health and well-being in Wales, for individuals, families and 
communities, thus to achieving our ambition of prosperity for all, taking significant steps to shift our 
approach from treatment to prevention. 

 

 Ambitious and Learning – to instil in everyone a passion to learn throughout their lives, inspiring 
them with the ambition to be the best they possibly can be. A prosperous Wales needs creative, 
highly skilled and adaptable people, so our education from the earliest age will be the foundation for a 
lifetime of learning and achievement. 

 

 United and Connected –to build a nation where people take pride in their communities, in the Welsh 
identity and language, and in our place in the world. To build the vital links that make it easier for 
people to come together, for the economy to grow, and to become a confident nation at ease with 
itself. 

 
Priority Areas 
 
The strategy focuses on five priority areas for action, for each priority it has been shown that early 

intervention- tackling the root causes rather than treating symptoms- pays dividends.  

 
 Early Years 
 Housing 
 Social Care 
 Mental Health 
 Skills and Employability 

 

4. Why do we need this strategy? 
 

The UK – and Wales - have very high levels of income inequality compared to other developed countries 
according to the Equality Trust. Less equal societies fare worse than equal ones, a fact laid bare when we 
compare the UK and the developed OEDC countries

2
. 

 
 17

th
 out of 23 for life expectancy 

 19
th
 out of 22 for obesity 

 17
th
 out of 21 for teenage births 

 17
th
 out of 23 for imprisonment 

 
Crucially, for the delivery of public services, the financial costs associated with inequality are significant, 
affecting health, wellbeing and crime rates.  Conversely, were we to achieve greater equality we would 

                                            
2
 https://www.equalitytrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/The%20Cost%20of%20Inequality%20%20-%20full%20report.pdf. P.2 

Page 27

https://www.equalitytrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/The%20Cost%20of%20Inequality%20%20-%20full%20report.pdf


 

10 | P a g e  
 

experience reductions in crime, reductions in imprisonment, better physical and mental wellbeing, increased 
life expectancy and a more prosperous society. 
 

As chartered by Joseph Rowntree Foundation‟s (JRF) biennial monitor of poverty in Wales, compared with 10 
years earlier there are now more people of working age (particularly young adults) in poverty and fewer 
children and pensioners

3
.  Overall, averages of 700,000 people were in poverty in Wales in the three years to 

2014-15, equivalent to 24% of the population
4
. 

 

The Social Metrics Commission was established to develop a more accurate measure of poverty which has a 
broad consensus across the political spectrum.  Its report, issued on the 17

th
 September, sets out a new 

method to measure poverty with some headline results for Wales.  
 

The new measure shows that:  
 

• 24% of the population of Wales live in poverty – the same as on the current measure.  

• A higher proportion of people live in poverty in Wales than in any other UK nation.  

• Child poverty is higher than suggested by the HBAI measure, at over 30% compared with 28%.  

• Pensioner poverty is lower than suggested by the HBAI measure, at 18% compared with 20%.  

Why poverty matters
5
 

 

Poverty is damaging to those directly affected and to the economy and society.  Poverty is linked to additional 
public on health, education, social care and police and criminal justice services in Wales of around £3.6 billion 
a year

6
, equivalent to over 20% of the Welsh budget, with additional costs from lost tax revenues and costs to 

the social security system.  
 
Poverty has an impact on every stage in a person‟s life.  Children who grow up in low-income households 
have poorer mental and physical health than those who group up in better-off families, and people who have 
experienced poverty or live in a deprived area have fewer years of life free from illness or disability and are 
likely to die sooner.  
 
At every stage in education children from low income backgrounds achieve worse results at school that those 
from better-off homes, increasing the risk that poverty will be passed from one generation to the next.  Poverty 
also restricts economic growth through limiting labour market skills and through limiting disposable income 
flowing into local and regional economies. 
 
Research demonstrates the correlation between childhood adversities linked to poverty and negative 
outcomes in adulthood, indicating that poverty may itself be considered an adverse childhood experience, 
more pervasive and persistent than all others.

7
.  Because child poverty is a result of family economic 

circumstances policy investments that promote family financial health are imperative to protect child wellbeing 
and Merthyr Tydfil‟s future prosperity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
3
 Tinson, A and MacInnes, T (2015) Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion in Wales. Joseph Rowntree Foundation 

4
 Department for Work and Pensions (2016) Households Below Average Income2014/15 Table 3.17ts 

5
 https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/prosperity-without-poverty 

6
 The cost of poverty to public services in the UK is estimated at £69.2 bn. Wales has 5.26% of the UK‟s population in relative income 

poverty. 5.26% of £69.2bn = £3.6bn 
7
 Michelle Hughes, MA MSW, Poverty as an Adverse Childhood Experience, North Carolina Medical Journal, March 2018 

Page 28

http://socialmetricscommission.org.uk/


 

11 | P a g e  
 

Table 1: ACEs increase individuals’ risk of developing health-harming behaviours 
 

 
Source: Public Health Wales, January 2016 

 

How Poverty looks in Merthyr Tydfil8 

 

Income 

 People perceive a growing gap between the rich and the poor 

 Median income levels in Merthyr Tydfil are lower than Wales and UK 

 The trend of rising household income in Merthyr Tydfil has levelled off since 2007 

 People in Merthyr Tydfil are more likely to have lower paid work than people in Wales 

 The gender pay gap is greater in Rhondda Cynon Taff and smaller in Merthyr Tydfil 

Skills 

 Merthyr Tydfil has a greater proportion of people who do not have any qualifications 

 Merthyr Tydfil has a lesser proportion of people with higher level qualifications 

 Relative pupil literacy and numeracy mean levels in Merthyr Tydfil are lower than the mean Wales 
level 

Employment 

 Employment rate in Merthyr Tydfil is below the Welsh average 

 Unemployed people in Merthyr Tydfil spoke of a frustration with the lack of useful support or guidance 

 People feel there are insufficient employment opportunities in Merthyr Tydfil  

Housing 

 Band D Council Tax is approximately 17% higher in Merthyr Tydfil than the average across  Wales 

 People in Merthyr Tydfil  pay a larger proportion of their earnings on Council Tax than Wales 

 The average house price in Cwm Taf is two thirds of the Welsh average house price 

 

 
 
 

                                            
8
 http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-wellbeing-assessment 

 

Page 29

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-wellbeing-assessment


 

12 | P a g e  
 

5. Key themes, strategic priorities and local outcomes 
 

To achieve our tackling poverty vision we need to examine and understand the issues that affect our 

communities. To aid us in this process and to encourage joined up working across all partners we have taken 

the positive step to identify three key themes that we believe have the greatest potential to achieve long term 

prosperity and wellbeing: 

  

 Regeneration 
 

 Lifelong learning 
 

 Health and wellbeing  
 

Our key themes are broadly aligned with those of the Welsh Government‟s wellbeing objectives.  There is also 

a strong link between the outcomes of this strategy and the regional and local outcomes of the PSBs Our 

Cwm Taf plan and the Councils Focus on the Future plan. 

 

Summarised here are our key themes and strategic priorities and this is followed by a separate section on 

each individual theme. 

Our key themes 
 

Regeneration 
 

Our strategic priorities which support this theme are: 

 Reduced unemployment and worklessness 

 Improved business growth and infrastructure 

 Better town centre and communities 

 

This theme is supported by the Economic Growth Partnership.   

 

A vibrant and growing business sector is crucial to the future of the Merthyr Tydfil economy.  The increase in 

new business development over the last five years has been a major driver in the growth in the local 

economy. The Orbit Business centre and the council‟s business support programmes will support local 

business to start up, develop and grow. 

 

Attracting new investment to the area will also help create jobs and prosperity.  We must ensure that we have 

the appropriate infrastructure to attract business and individuals to invest, work, visit and live in Merthyr Tydfil.  

Reducing the amount of vacant property and vacant and derelict land will increase the amount of space ready 

for business development and be a catalyst for private sector investment in the area. 

 

Merthyr Tydfil has a wide range of tourist attractions and activities to entice both residents and visitors. The 

visitor economy is important to the County Borough and one of the Towns recent growth sectors. We are 

looking to increase the number of tourist visitors by further developing a range of high quality visitor 

attractions. Employment within the tourism sector will provide a significant number of entry level jobs over the 

next 5 years.   

 

The town centre will play an important part in the economic and social wellbeing of the area. The Town Centre 

will play an important role as the hub for art and culture in the Town, with events and leisure becoming a 

driver for cultural growth. In addition to this, the Town Centre is a major employment zone with over 250  

Page 30



 

13 | P a g e  
 

The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal (CCRCD) which is a legally constituted partnership between the 10 

South East Wales Local Authorities has created a Strategic Plan that identifies four key regional themes to 

deliver economic growth within the region over the next 20 years. These are: 

 

 Skills and Employment 

 Connecting the Region 

 Innovation 

 Regeneration and Infrastructure 

 

Over 1.2 billion pounds of investment has already been secured to deliver a range of regeneration and 

renewal investment that will have significant regional impact. Within this investment package, under the theme 

of „Connecting the Region‟ a contact has been let to deliver the CCRCD Metro. This will bring substantial 

improvement to the Core Valleys rail infrastructure to Cardiff and also integrate bus linkage to the rail links. 

Over the next 5 years this investment will have the potential to has a direct impact on the effectiveness of this 

strategy.  

 

 

 
 

Short term objectives (1 year) 

 Continue to deliver European Social Fund Grants to tackle Economic Inactivity 

 To establish an Economic Growth Partnership to link employability with future business sector 

demands and new inward investment 

 Continue to offer and deliver recruitment solutions to new inward investors 

 Stimulate and boost the aspirations and skills of our people to meet public and private sector career 

opportunities 

 

Medium term objectives (2-5years) 

 To ensure all learning providers are equipped to improve the resilience of their learners 

 To research and secure funding routes following the cessation of European Social Fund grants 

 Increase levels of local business start-ups and drive sustainable growth of existing businesses 

 

Long term objectives (6-10 years) 

 To ensure the County Borough continues to engage in and take full advantage of the opportunities 

from  the City Deal 

 Deliver connected infrastructure at local and regional levels 

 

 

Local outcomes- Regeneration  
 

 
Over the next five years we will achieve the following local outcomes: 
 

 Reduce economic inactivity  

 Reduce the proportion of children living in workless households 

 Grow the business sector with high levels of survival  

 Increase employment levels  

 Increase opportunities for apprentices  

 Improve the connectivity of the transport infrastructure  

Page 31



 

14 | P a g e  
 

Our key themes 

Lifelong learning 
 

Our strategic priorities which support this theme are: 

 

 Better achievements 

 Greater opportunities  

 Better prospects 

 

We believe that everyone has an unlimited ability to learn and it is our aim therefore to remove any barriers 

which get in the way of achievement and higher aspirations. We are committed to making Merthyr Tydfil a 

place where people are able to learn and work, realise their full potential. 

 

We are committed to providing an educational environment that is relevant to children and young people and 
provides them with the resources and experiences they need through their nursery, primary and secondary 
school years, and allows them to develop to develop skills for learning, life and work.  This is further enhanced 
through developing a wide range of opportunities for children prior to statutory school age and also ensuring 
that our schools develop close working relationships with Merthyr College, work-based learning providers and 
businesses to enable our young people to make informed choices about their future. We will continue our 
improvements and raise our attainment levels in academic, vocational and wider achievements with a view to 
closing the gap with the national average in national qualifications, as well as improving the life chances of our 
most vulnerable young people and their families. We  will underpin this by building on the successes of our 
21

st
 Century Schools  capital programme and the wider Council capital building programmes to improve the 

learning facilities for, schools and local communities.  
 

 

 
 

Short term objectives (1 year) 

 Further embed the Outstanding Teacher Programme and Improves Teacher Programme across the 

County Borough 

 Gain commitment with  partners (including private and third sector) to sign up to the partner Cwm Taf 

Pledge 

 To clearly identify the pathways from birth/ early years into statutory education and onto further 

training and/or work 

 To widen the remit and use of the Capita One team to improve performance tracking and impact of 

interventions from early years through to end of statutory school age. 

 

 

 

Local outcomes- Lifelong learning 
 
Over the next five years we will achieve the following local outcomes: 
 

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people, but 
particularly the lowest attaining and those in areas of deprivation 

 Develop closer links between schools, the college and work-based learning 
providers to ensure our young people have access to a wider range of 
opportunities  

 Ensure more people are in education, training and volunteering 

 Improve the qualifications of learners to ensure they are work ready 

 Increase the opportunities for people to develop skills for learning, life and work 
and improve their life chance 

 

Page 32



 

15 | P a g e  
 

Medium term objectives (2-5years) 

 To ensure all learning providers are equipped to improve the resilience of their learners 

 To improve tracking of destination data for learners 18-25 

 To research and secure funding routes following the cessation of European Social Fund grants 

 To ensure all young people leave maintained school at 16 with the appropriate accreditation to access 

further education, employment or training. 

 

Long term objectives (5-10 years) 

 For all young people up to age of 25 to be in education, employment or training 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 33



 

16 | P a g e  
 

Our key themes 
 

Health and wellbeing 
 

Our strategic priorities which support this theme are: 

 Building resilient communities 

 Strengthening families 

 

 

The Cwm Taf PSB have a statement on resilience which says “We work as One Public service with 

communities to support the development of resilient communities that are informed, connected, active and 

resourced and have the ability to adapt to and influence change and improve wellbeing.” 

 

The focus of this theme is to increase the social and economic participation of vulnerable and disadvantaged 

individuals and families within their communities and enhance their life-time wellbeing and sense of 

community belonging.  

 

The Cwm Taf wellbeing plan identifies the development of Community Zones as an immediate priority under 

the wellbeing theme Thriving Communities.  These zones provide an opportunity to work differently across 

public services and to involve local people in the development and design of the types of services and 

information that will be offered.   

 

The Merthyr Tydfil Tackling Poverty steering group will be the local mechanism to  

 make certain local people are involved in the development of the community zone 

 ensure the design and model for delivering services is fit for purpose for local people 

 monitor progress against milestones and delivery dates outlined in the Thriving Communities Delivery 

plan  

 

 

 
 

Short term objectives (1 year) 

 Develop a community Zone in Gurnos that aims to deliver an integrated, place-based approach to 

building a resilient community that prevents and mitigates the effects of adverse childhood 

experiences (ACE‟s), 

 To ensure all staff within schools, council and immediate partners have an understanding of the 

ACES agenda and how to offer appropriate support to children and families, 

 Develop a comprehensive Social Services „Information, Communication and Engagement Strategy‟ 

Local outcomes- Health and wellbeing 
 
Over the next five years we will achieve the following local outcomes: 
 

 Improve health and wellbeing 

 Reduce the need for statutory interventions  

 Older people and those with particular housing needs can live independently through the 
provision of accessible homes and support services 

 Improve the resilience of families 

 Reduce homelessness  
 

 

Page 34



 

17 | P a g e  
 

 To promote the use of the Information Advice and Assistance (IAA) platform and „Team Around the 

Family‟ to ensure communities are informed, connected and begin to develop resilience 

 Develop a „Children‟s Services Workforce Development Strategy‟ (pilot) 

 To support and promote local and national health initiatives such as Free Swimming and National 

Exercise Referral Scheme which aims to highlight the benefits of sport in improving the nation‟s 

physical and mental wellbeing. 

 Explore opportunities for more integrated working with Cwm Taf University Health Board and 

neighbouring authorities  

 

Medium term objectives (2-5 years) 

 Review the Community Zone development and consider this model for other areas 

 Implementation of the Social Services „Information, Communication and Engagement Strategy‟ 

 Implementation of the „Children‟s Services Workforce Strategy‟ 

 Following pilot undertaken with Children‟s Services, roll out workforce strategy development to other 

areas across Social Services 

 To develop a vulnerability profile from birth to end of statutory education to improve targeting of 

support for children and young people 

 Review and development of WWCIS to ensure it meets user/manager needs and expectations, 

supports timely decision making and informs planning 

 To develop an Indoor and Outdoor Facilities Strategy (including playing pitch) to encourage dual use 

of school facilities for sport and leisure activities out of school hours. 

 Continue to contribute to the development and implementation of existing, emerging and newly 

identified joint working opportunities 

 Ensure individuals, their families and carers have access to accommodation that meets needs and 

are of good quality 

 

 

Long term objectives (6-10 years) 

 To increase our success rate in preventing and alleviating homelsseness 

 To develop a hub within the County Borough to support people living with dementia 

 To develop the use of school facilities to become community hubs to support physical activity 

 To develop the environment and infrastructure, so that the County Borough is a place where everyone 
can have a lifelong enjoyment of sport and physical activity.  
 

 

 

 

Page 35



 

18 | P a g e  
 

OUR APPROACH 

 

We will tackle poverty by prioritising the needs of our community members within an early intervention 

framework and protecting those most at risk of poverty and exclusion. Through ensuring a graduated 

response proportionate to the level of need within the community we will strive to ensure the community 

remains independent and develops resilience that will over the long term prevent the continuing escalation of 

needs and build towards more cohesive communities that support each other to reduce intergenerational 

dependencies and the poverty cycle that many experience.  This will be achieved through considering all of 

our interventions within the following framework 

 

Figure 2: A tiered approach to intervention 

 
6.Tackling Poverty Governance 

 

The Tackling Poverty Steering Board was set up to coordinate strategic development across council 

services and partners in order to:-  

 

 Improve the lives of disadvantaged people across Merthyr Tydfil 

 Support the social and economic regeneration of priority areas within Merthyr Tydfil 

 Utilise the Flexible Funding
9
 from Welsh Government to address deprivation holistically 

 

The Board is made up of:- 

 

 Anti-Poverty Champion (chair) 

 Portfolio lead for Social Services 

 Portfolio lead for Learning 

 Portfolio lead for Regeneration 

 Chief Officer Social Services 

 Chief Officer Regeneration 

 Chief Officer Learning 

 Chief Executive Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil 

 Representative from Health (tbc) 

 

                                            
9
 This is the transitional funding put in place by WG following the closure of the Communities First programme.  

Page 36



 

19 | P a g e  
 

To support the work of the Board, there is a multi-agency Tackling Poverty Steering Group which is made 
up of officers from the local authority and key partners from statutory and third sector. 
 

 Chief Officer for Social Services 
• Chief Officer for Learning 
• Chief Officer for Community Regeneration 
• Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services 
• Head of Service for Community Wellbeing 
• Head of Childrens Social Services 
• Head of Adult Social Services 
• Third  Sector (VAMT) 
• Leisure Trust representative 
• Local Health Board representative 
• Public Health representative 

Other stakeholders will be invited when their contribution will support the delivery of key priorities 
 
Chief Officers will take responsibility for work and actions in their area and performance will be monitored 
through departmental and corporate management structures. The Tackling Poverty agenda will be a standing 
agenda item at corporate management team meetings as well as departmental leadership meetings.   
Performance reporting will follow the Councils Service Improvement Framework model. The first annual report 
will be published in October 2019 as part of the Councils overall Annual Performance Report.  
 

 

5. HOW WILL WE KNOW WE ARE SUCCESSFUL? 

 
We accept that the poverty performance framework and its measurement are challenging.  The period for 

change is lengthy as it relies upon addressing the complex needs of many individuals.  

 

We will know that we have been successful when we see:- 

 

 Positive progress against the Key Performance Indicator‟s associated with our Local Outcomes 

 Tackling poverty activity is embedded across Council Services and across the services of our PSB 

partners via the adoption of key performance indicators. 

Page 37



 

20 | P a g e  
 

6. Appendices 
 

1. Shared Vision 
2. Poverty Profile (in previous draft was on page 6) 
3. Thriving Places Wales Overview 
4. Current  Wellbeing SOAPs 
5. Outcomes Framework 

 

Page 38



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Steering Group Agenda will be thematic. There will be a rota made up 
of the 3 Chief Officers below who will acts as Chair in turn: 
 

Regeneration- Alyn Owen 
Lifelong Learning- Sue Walker 
Health and wellbeing- LCJ 

 
N.B Depending upon the theme, attendees for the meeting might differ 
and will include partners such as MVH, Merthyr College, Health 

OPERATIONAL ACTION 

GROUPS 

1. Regeneration 

Priorities:  

 

1.1 Unemployment and worklessness 

1.2 Business growth and infrastructure 

1.3 Town centre  

 

2. Lifelong learning 

 

Priorities: 

 

2.1 Better achievements 

2.2 Greater opportunities  

2.3 Better prospects 

 

3. Health and wellbeing 

 

Priorities: 

 

3.1Building resilient communities 

3.2 Strengthening families 

 

 SOAP 

 Action plan  
 SOAP 

 Action plan 

 

 SOAP 

 Action plan  

 Short term objectives (1 year) 

 Medium term objectives (2-5 years) 

 Long term objectives (6-10 years) 

 

 Short term objectives (1 year) 

 Medium term objectives (2-5 years) 

 Long term objectives (6-10 years) 

 

 Short term objectives (1 year) 

 Medium term objectives (2-5 years) 

 Long term objectives (6-10 years) 

 

To include external Funding 
sources: 
Children and Communities Grant  
Housing Support Grant 
 

TACKLING POVERTY BOARD 

 

TACKLING POVERTY STEERING GROUP 

 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Draft Work Programme 2019-20
	Appendix 1

	4 Tackling Poverty
	Appendix 1 - Tackling Poverty Strategy
	Appendix 2 - Tackling Poverty Structure


